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CRISIS AND CONFRONTATION ON  
THE KOREAN PENINSULA: 

1968-1969 
 

 List of Documents 
 
 

 

1968 
 

Document 1.   23 January 1968: [Secret] Memorandum for McNamara, Nitze, 
Rostow (Walt), Rusk, Katzenbach, William Bundy, General Carroll, Thomas 
Hughes, General Carter, “North Korean Intentions” 

Document 2. 23 January 1968: Telegram From the Department of State to 
AMEMBASSY SEOUL, 2121Z 

Document 3. 23 January 1968: Notes of Meeting, 12:58-2:30 p.m., Washington, 
“Notes of the President’s Tuesday National Security Lunch”  

Document 4. 24 January 1968: Summary Minutes of Meeting, 10:30-11:45 a.m., 
Washington, “Summary Minutes of Pueblo Group” 

Document 5. 24 January 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 
SECSTATE, 1031Z, (Seoul 03598) 

Document 6. 24 January 1968: Memorandum for Record, “NSC Meeting Held 
January 24, 1968, at 1:00 p.m. in the Cabinet Room”  

Document 7. 24 January 1968: Notes of the President’s Meeting with Secretary 
Rusk, Secretary McNamara, Clark Clifford, et al., 7:50 p.m. - 8:25 p.m. 

Document 8. 24 January 1968: Information of the Foreign Ministry of the DPRK 
given by Comrade Kim Tae-bong, Deputy Foreign Minister of the DPRK, 9:00 
p.m. to 9:40 p.m., for the Ambassadors and Acting Ambassadors of all Socialist 
Countries accredited to the DPRK 

Document 9. 24 January 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 
SECSTATE, 2105Z, (Seoul 03600) 

Document 10. 24 January 1968: [Sensitive, No Foreign Dissem] Intelligence 
Memorandum from Central Intelligence Agency, “Confrontation in Korea” 

Document 11. 24 January 1968: Fact Sheet “North Korean Objectives” 
Document 12. 24 January 1968: [Top Secret] Memorandum by Nathaniel Davis to 

Mr. W.W. Rostow, “Pueblo Incident” 
Document 13. 24 January 1968: Intelligence Note by INR – Thomas L. Hughes, 

“Soviet Policy Toward North Korea and the Pueblo Incident” 
Document 14. 24 January 1968: [Secret] Telegram from CINCUNC to RUEP 

JS/JCS, 1240Z,“North Korean Posture (U)” 
 



Document 15. 24 January 1968: Memorandum of the Government of the Republic 
of Korea on the North Korean Communists Acts of Barbarity Against the 
Republic of Korea on January 21, 1968. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 2662) 

Document 16. 24 January 1968: Memorandum regarding the United States 
(classification #: 729.55, record # 2669) 

Document 17. 25 January 1968: [Secret] Telegram from SECSTATE to 
AMEMBASSY MOSCOW, 0945Z,“USS Pueblo Incident” (State 104325)  

Document 18. 25 January 1968: [Confidential] Telegram from AMEMBASSY 
SEOUL to SECSTATE, 0934Z, (Seoul 3635) 

Document 19. 25 January 1968: Memorandum for the Secretary of Defense, 10:00 
AM, “Record of Meeting on January 25, 1968” in connection with the United 
States response to the “Pueblo” capture, in attendance: Secretary of Defense, 
Deputy of Secretary of Defense, Secretary and Chief of Staff, et al. 

Document 20. 25 January 1968: [Limited Official Use] Telegram from 
AMEMBASSY SEOUL to SECSTATE, 1020Z, “Public Reaction to Pueblo 
Seizure,” (Seoul 3633) 

Document 21. 25 January 1968: Notes of Meeting, 6:30-7:45 p.m., Washington, 
“Notes on the President’s Thursday Night Meeting on the Pueblo Incident,” 
Attendance: The President, Secretary McNamara, General Wheeler, CIA Director 
Helms, et al.   

Document 22. 25 January 1968: Telegram from AMEMBASSY MOSCOW to the 
Department of State, (Moscow 2566) 

Document 23. 25 January 1968: Notes of President’s Luncheon Meeting with 
Secretary Rusk, Secretary McNamara, Undersecretary Katzenbach, General 
Wheeler, et al. 

Document 24. 25 January 1968: [Top Secret] Joint MessageForm from Chairman of 
the Joint Chiefs of Staff (CJCS) Earl G. Wheeler to CINCPAC 

Document 25. 25 January 1968: Notes of Meeting, Washington, “Notes of the 
President’s Breakfast Meeting With: Secretary Rusk, Secretary McNamara, 
Ambassador Goldberg, Walt Rostow, George Christian, Tom Johnson”  

Document 26. 25 January 1968: Joint Message Form from JCS to AIG 936, 
“Korean Situation Report Number Two” 

Document 27. 25 January 1968: [Confidential] Telegram from AMEMBASSY 
SEOUL to SECSTATE, “ROKG Note on North Korean Acts,” (Seoul 03631) 

Document 28. 25 January 1968: Telegram from SECSTATE to AMEMBASSY 
SEOUL (State 104496) 

Document 29. 25 January 1968: U.S. Position Regarding the January 21 and 23 
Incidents, January 25 Document on Friendly Relations, U.S. Ambassador to 
Korea Porter. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 2662) 

Document 30. 26 January 1968: Notes of Meeting, 11:08 a.m.- 12:02 p.m., 
Washington, “Notes of President’s Friday Morning Meeting on the Pueblo 
Incident”  

Document 31. 26 January 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 
SECSTATE, 0857Z, (Seoul 03668) 

Document 32. 26 January 1968: [Secret] Telegram from Ambassador Thompson 
(Moscow 2588) 



Document 33. 26 January 1968: [Secret] Prepared by Mr. Graham for DIA, 
“Communist Reactions to Various Possible Courses of Action With Respect to 
North Korea” 

Document 34. 26 January 1968: Issue of Participation in the United Nations by the 
Puppet Regime in North Korea. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 2662) 

Document 35. 26 January 1968 Results of a Meeting with U.S. Embassy Political 
Counselor Peterson Regarding the Issue of Participation in the United Nations by 
the Puppet Regime in North Korea. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 2662) 

Document 36. 26 January 1968: Situation Report and Document Forwarding. 
(classification #: 729.55, record #: 2662) 

Document 37. 26 January 1968: Report of the United Nations Command to the 
United Nations. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 2662) 

Document 38. 27 January 1968: [NODIS] Telegram from AMEMBASSY 
MOSCOW to SECSTATE, 1458Z, (Moscow 2604) 

Document 39. 27 January 1968: Letter by W.W. Rostow to President Lyndon B. 
Johnson 

Document 40. 27 January 1968: Efforts to Coordinate Handling of the Pueblo 
Incident and Invasion by Armed Spies of the North Korean Puppet Regime in 
Foreign Reports and the UN Security Council. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 
2662) 

Document 41. 28 January 1968: Telegram From AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 
RUEHC/SECSTATE, 0923Z, (Seoul 3706) 

Document 42. 28 January 1968: President Johnson’s Notes on Conversation with 
Ambassador Goldberg at 11:38 AM on Jan. 28, 1968, “Relative to Pueblo --  
return of ship and crew 00 submitting matter to International Court of Justice” 

Document 43. 28 January 1968: [Secret] Intelligence Memorandum from Central 
Intelligence Agency, “Pueblo Sitrep No. 16 (As of 5 P.M. EST)” 

Document 44. 28 January 1968: [NODIS] Telegram From the Department of State 
to AMEMBASSY MOSCOW (State 106086) 

Document 45. 28 January 1968: [Sensitive] CIA/DIA/State Memorandum 
“Reactions to Certain US Actions” 

Document 46. 28 January 1968: Expression of Opposition to Direct Contact by the 
United States and the North Korean Puppet Regime for the Release of the Pueblo 
Crew. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 2662) 

Document 47. 29 January 1968: Memorandum for the President, “Confrontation in 
Korea” 

Document 48. 29 January 1968: [Secret] Intelligence note from Thomas L. Hughes 
to the Secretary of State, “The Emerging Soviet Line on the Pueblo Incident” 

Document 49. 29 January 1968: Memorandum of a Conversation with the 
Ambassadors of the CSSR, Comrade Holub and Comrade Naperei, 2:30 p.m. to 
4:00 p.m. 

Document 50. 29 January 1968: Notes of Meeting, 1:40-3:25 p.m., “Notes of the 
President’s Luncheon Meeting with Senior American Advisors” Washington 

Document 51. 29 January 1968: [Secret, NODIS] Letter from SECSTATE to 
RUEHCR/AMEMBASSY Moscow, 0140Z, [Part 1 of 2] 



Document 52. 29 January 1968: [Secret, NODIS] Letter from SECSTATE to 
RUEHCR/AMEMBASSY Moscow, 0140Z, [Part 2 of 2] 

Document 53. 29 January 1968: U.S. Aide Memoire. (classification #: 729.55, 
record # 2669) 

Document 54. 30 January 1968: Journal of S.P. Kozyrev, “Record of a 
conversation with J. [Rowland], Australian Ambassador to the USSR, 29 
January 1968” 

Document 55. 30 January 1968: Journal of S.P. Kozyrev, “Record of a 
conversation with Canadian Ambassador to the USSR R. Ford” 

Document 56. 30 January 1968: Report from Embassy of Hungary in the Soviet 
Union to the Hungarian Foreign Ministry 

Document 57. 30 January 2008: Notes of Meeting 1:08-2:50 p.m. “Notes of the 
President’s Foreign Affairs Luncheon” Washington  

Document 58. 30 January 1968: Korean Abandonment of Participation in the 
Security Council and, as a Substitute, Request to the U.S. Side the Inclusion of 
Three Articles in the Security Council’s Resolution. (classification #: 729.55, 
record #: 2662) 

Document 59. 30 January 1968: Request to the U.S. State Department for a 
Correction Regarding the Actions of U.S. Diplomatic Offices in Their Host 
Nations That Are Focusing Only on the Pueblo Incident. (classification #: 
729.55, record #: 2662) 

Document 60. 31 January 1968: Korean Task Force, “Situation Report – 1800 
Hours EST – January 31, 1968”  

Document 61. 31 January 1968: Record of Conversation Between A.A. Gromyko 
and Charge D’Affaires of the DPRK in the USSR Kang Cheol-geun  

Document 62. 31 January 1968: Document on the Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
Director Yoon Ha-jung Invitation, Explanation, and Friendly Relations With 
U.S. Embassy in Korea Adviser Ericson. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 
2662) 

Document 63. Our [South Korean Government] Position Regarding Panmunjum 
Military Ceasefire Committee Meetings. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 
2663) 

Document 64. 1 February 1968: [Top Secret] Report by W.W. Rostow, “Report on 
Meeting of Advisory Group, January 29, 1968” 

Document 65. 1 February 1968: Normal Situation Report (Jan 26- Feb 1). 
(classification #: 729.55, record #: 2662) 

Document 66. 1 February 1968: U.S.’ Reaction and South Korean Government’s 
Response Regarding Panmunjum Meetings. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 
2663) 

Document 67. 2 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 
SECSTATE, 0405Z, (Seoul 3863) 

Document 68. 2 February 1968: [Limited Official Use] Telegram from 
AMEMBASSY SEOUL to SECSTATE, 1028Z, (Seoul 03894)  

Document 69. 2 February 1968: [Limited Official Use] Telegram from 
AMEMBASSY SEOUL to SECSTATE, 1010Z, “National Assembly 
Meets/Public Reaction,” (Seoul 03895) 



Document 70. 2 February 1968: [Limited Official Use] Telegram from 
AMEMBASSY SEOUL to SECSTATE, 1020Z, “Public Reaction to NK 
Intrusion and Pueblo Seizure,” (Seoul 03896) 

Document 71. 2 February 1968: Memorandum from Alfred Jenkins of the National 
Security Council Staff to the President’s Special Assistant (Rostow), 
Washington, “Next Korean Moves” 

Document 72. 2 February 1968: “Developments Beyond the Next Meeting in 
Panmunjom” 

Document 73. 2 February 1968: [Secret] Memorandum, “Third Country 
Approaches to North Korea on the Pueblo Incident” 

Document 74. 2 February 1968: Journal of S.P. Kozyrev, “Record of a 
Conversation with Canadian Ambassador to the USSR R. Ford” 

Document 75. 2 February 1968: [Confidential Matter] Memorandum on an 
Information of 1 February 1968 from Embassy of the GDR in the DPRK, 
Pyongyang  

Document 76. 2 February 1968: The Opening of Panmunjum Meetings Regarding 
Armed Communist Guerilla Incident and Pueblo Incident, and the South Korean 
Government’s Position. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 2663) 

Document 77. 2 February 1968: U.S. Aide Memoire. (classification #: 729.55, 
record # 2669) 

Document 78. 3 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 
SECSTATE, 0245Z, (Seoul 3901) 

Document 79. 3 February 1968: Personal Letter to President Park Chung Hee from 
U.S. President Johnson. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 2662) 

Document 80. 4 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from Department of State to 
AMEMBASSY SEOUL, “Letter from President Lyndon B. Johnson to 
President Park Chung Hee” (State 109821) 

Document 81. 4 February 1968: South Korean Government’s Position Regarding 
Secret Meetings between the U.S. and the North Korean Puppet Regime. 
(classification #: 729.55, record #: 2663) 

Document 82. 5 February 1968: [Secret] Letter from President Park Chung Hee to 
President Lyndon B. Johnson 

Document 83. 5 February 1968: CIA Briefing Materials for Ambassador Ball’s 
Committee,  “The Pueblo Incident” 

Document 84. 5 February 1968: [NODIS,CACTUS] Telegram from General 
Wheeler, CJCS to  Admiral Sharp, CINCPAC  

Document 85. 5 February 1968: Regarding the Pueblo Incident, Press Report. 
(classification #: 729.55, record #: 2663) 

Document 86. 5 February 1968: Contents of the 3rd Closed Meeting between the 
U.S. and the North Korean Puppet Regime. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 
2663) 

Document 87. 5 February 1968: Memorandum regarding the United States 
(classification #: 729.55, record # 2669) 

Document 88. 6 February 1968: Resolution from the 58th meeting of the CPCZ CC 
Presidium on January 6th, 1968, “Information about the situation in Korea” 



Document 89. 6 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 
SECSTATE, 0850Z, (Seoul 4008 [1 of 2]) 

Document 90. 6 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 
SECSTATE, 0850Z,  (Seoul 4008 [2 of 2]) 

Document 91. 6 February 1968: Progression of the Closed Meetings between the 
U.S. and the North Korean Puppet Regime. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 
2663) 

Document 92. 7 February 1968: [NODIS,CACTUS] Telegram from General 
Wheeler, CJCS to Admiral Sharp, CINCPAC 

Document 93. 7 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 
SECSTATE, 0346Z, (Seoul 4034) 

Document 94. 7 February 1968: [Limited Official Use] Telegram from 
AMEMBASSY SEOUL to SECSTATE, 1251Z, “NK Intrusion/Pueblo: 
National Assembly Adopts Strong Stance,” (Seoul 04061) 

Document 95. 7 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 
SECSTATE, 1435Z, “Future of Pueblo Negotiations,” (Seoul 4062) 

Document 96. 8 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 
SECSTATE, 0965Z, (Seoul 4083 [1 of 2]) 

Document 97. 8 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 
SECSTATE, 0965Z, (Seoul 4083 [2 of 2]) 

Document 98. 8 February 1968: Telegram from AMEMBASSY TAIPEI to 
SECSTATE, 0610Z, (Taipei 2089) 

Document 99. 9 February 1968: [Secret] Intelligence Information Cable from 
Central Intelligence Agency, “Soviet Circular Telegram on the Pueblo 
Incident” 

Document 100. 9 February 1968: The Directorate of Intelligence, “Weekly 
Summary” 

Document 101. 9 February 1968: Report of Czech Embassy in Pyongyang, “Pueblo 
and American-South Korean relations” 

Document 102. 10 February 1968: [Limited Official Use] Telegram from 
AMEMBASSY SEOUL to SECSTATE, 0557Z, “Public Reaction to US 
Moves,” (Seoul 04135) 

Document 103. 12 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL 
to SECSTATE, 0826Z, (Seoul 4170) 

Document 104. [Photo] Mr. Vance’s conference with Prime Minister Chung Il-kwon 
Document 105. 12 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL 

to SECSTATE, 0842Z, (Seoul 4171) 
Document 106. [Photo] Mr. Vance greets Korea’s Foreign Minister Choi Kyu-hwa 
Document 107. 12 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL 

to SECSTATE, 1147Z, (Seoul 4176) 
Document 108. [Photo] Mr. Vance greets Korea’s President Park with U.S. 

Ambassador William J. Porter on Right 
Document 109. [Photo] Conference at Korea’s Blue House (Chungwa Dae) with 

President Park. Left to right: – Mr. Porter – Mr. Vance – President Park 
Document 110. 12 February 1968: Telegram from Department of State to 

AMEMBASSY SEOUL, (State 113833) 



Document 111. 13 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL 
to SECSTATE, 1316Z, (Seoul 4207) 

Document 112. 13 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL 
to SECSTATE,1340Z, (Seoul 4208 [1 of 2]) 

Document 113. 14 February 1968: Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 
SECSTATE, 0603Z,  “Vance Meeting with Korean Cabinet: 1000, February 14, 
1968,” (Seoul 4215) 

Document 114. [Photo] Mr. Vance’s second conference with Prime Minister Chung 
(at far end of table) 

Document 115. 15 February 1968: “Notes of the President’s meeting with Cyrus 
Vance” 

Document 116. 15 February 1968: “Some Aspects of the Political Line of the Korean 
Workers’ Party After the January Events Political Report No. 12” by B. 
Schindler to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Prague. 

Document 117. 17 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL 
to SECSTATE, 0650Z, “US-Korean Talks: Final Vance Meeting with President 
Park,” (Seoul 4315 [1 of 4]) 

Document 118. 17 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL 
to SECSTATE, 0650Z,  (Seoul 4315 [2 of 4]) 

Document 119. 17 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL 
to SECSTATE, 0650Z,  (Seoul 4315 [3 of 4]) 

Document 120. 17 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL 
to SECSTATE, 0650Z,  (Seoul 4315 [4 of 4]) 

Document 121. 19 February 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL 
to SECSTATE, 0109Z, (Seoul 4326) 

Document 122. 19 February 1968: Department of State Korean Task Force, 
“Situation Report” 

Document 123. 19 February 1968: [Secret] Memorandum from W. W. Rostow to 
President Lyndon B. Johnson, “Status of Pueblo Case” 

Document 124. 19 February 1968: Contents of Foreign Reports and the Utterances 
of President Johnson, GOP Presidential Candidate Nixon, and Soviet Party 
Secretary Brezhnev regarding Provocative Activities by the North Korean 
Puppet Regime. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 2662) 

Document 125. 20 February 1968: [Top Secret] Memorandum for the President from 
Cyrus R. Vance 

Document 126. 23 February 1968: [Personal, Strictly Confidential] Excerpt from a 
Personal Letter of the Acting Ambassador of the GDR in Pyongyang, Comrade 
Jarck 

Document 127. 24 February 1968: Contents of the Meeting Between the 
Ambassador to the United States and Assistant Secretary Bundy Regarding the 
Current Security Issue. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 2662) 

Document 128. 25 February 1968: [Eyes Only] Telegram from General Johnson 
CSA to General McConnell CSAF, Admiral Moorer CNO, General Chapman 
CMC, 1409Z 

Document 129. 25 February 1968: Letter President Park Chung Hee Sent to 
President Johnson. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 2662) 



Document 130. 26 February 1968: [NODIS, CACTUS] Telegram from Department 
of State to AMEMBASSY SEOUL, “Navy Analysis of Pueblo Documents” 
(State 120759) 

Document 131. 26 February 1968: Reception of US Ambassador to the USSR 
Llewellyn E. Thompson by A.A. Gromyko 

Document 132. 27 February 1968: [Confidential Matter] Memorandum on an 
Information [Information Report] of 24 February and 26 February 1968 from 
Helga Picht, the Embassy of the GDR in the DPRK, Pyongyang 

Document 133. 28 February 1968: Letter from South Korean Minister of National 
Defense, Kim Sung-Eun to US Speaker of the House John W. McCormack 

Document 134. 7 March 1968: [Secret] Memorandum for the President from 
Nicholas Katzenbach  

Document 135. 15 March 1968: [Confidential] Telegram from SECSTATE to All 
Diplomatic Posts, 0036Z,“Pueblo Case” (State 130623) 

Document 136. 2 April 1968: [Secret] Letter from Richard A Ericson, Jr. to 
Winthrop G. Brown 

Document 137. 2 April 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 
SECSTATE, 0813Z, “Official Reaction to President’s Speech,” (Seoul 5437) 

Document 138. 3 April 1968: intelligence Information Cable, “Comments by North 
Korean on the Pueblo Affair, Future Hostilities by North Korea, and Relations 
Between North Korea, Communist China, and the USSR” 

Document 139. 9 April 1968: Excerpt from Leonid Brezhnev’s Speech at the April 
(1968) CC CPSU Plenum regarding the Pueblo crisis: “On the Current 
Problems of the International Situation and on the Struggle of the CPSU for the 
Unity of the International Communist Movement” 

Document 140. [Secret] “Honolulu Meeting with President Park: Major Topics” 
Document 141. 12 April 1968: Second Draft from Policy Planning Staff, Winston 

Lord, “Nuclear Weapons” 
Document 142. 16 April 1968: [Secret] Talking Points for the President from 

William P. Bundy, “Additional Korean Forces in Vietnam” 
Document 143. 16 April 1968: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 

RUHKA/CINCPAC, 0205Z, (Seoul 5706) 
Document 144. 17 April 1968: [Top Secret] Memorandum of Conversation between 

President Johnson and President Park, 1010-1230 hours; 1700-1830 hours 
Document 145. 17 April 1968: [Top Secret] Memorandum of Conversation between 

President Johnson and President Park, 1315-1615 hours 
Document 146. 17 April 1968: Office of the White House Press Secretary (Honolulu, 

Hawaii), The White House, Joint Communiqué 
Document 147. 19 April 1968: [Secret] Central Intelligence Agency, Intelligence 

Information Cable, “Relations between North Korea and China” 
Document 148. 23 April 1968: Secret] Central Intelligence Agency, Intelligence 

Information Cable, “President Pak’s Critical Reaction to the Honolulu 
Conference” 

Document 149. 23 April 1968: [Highly Confidential] Memorandum by SED Central 
Committee, Department of International Relations, on the Visit of the Party and 
Government Delegation of the GDR, led by Comrade Prof. Dr. Kurt Hager, 



with the General Secretary of the KWP and Prime Minister of the DPRK, 
Comrade Kim Il Sung, on 16 April 1968, 5:00 p.m. until 6:50 p.m. 

Document 150. 27 April 1968: Report from the Embassy of Hungary in North Korea 
to the Hungarian Foreign Ministry, Appendix II. Information Report, 
Conversation with Comrade Pak Song-chol during Dinner of April 9, 1968. 

Document 151. 27 April 1968: Report from Embassy of Hungary in North Korea to 
the Hungarian Foreign Ministry, Appendix V. Information Report, Comrade 
Pullai’s Visit to Comrade Kim Il Sung 

Document 152. 2 May 1968: [Confidential] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL 
to SECSTATE, 0700Z, (Seoul 6043) 

Document 153. 3 May 1968: [Secret] Central Intelligence Agency, Intelligence 
Information Cable, “North Korea’s Intention to Attack South Korea and Thus 
Divert American Power Away from Vietnam” 

Document 154. 6 May 1968: Record of Conversation Between the Chairman of the 
Council of Ministers of the USSR A.N. Kosygin with the Ambassador of the 
DPRK in Moscow Ten Du Hwan 

Document 155. 7 May 1968: [Secret] Memorandum for Colonel Lindjord from 
Winston Lord, “Korean Policy” 

Document 156. 15 May 1968: South Korean Government’s Position Regarding the 
Current Status of the Panmunjum Closed Meetings of the Military Ceasefire 
Committee’s Chief Delegate Regarding the Pueblo Incident. (classification #: 
729.55, record #: 2663) 

Document 157. 16 May 1968: [Controlled Dissem] Special National Intelligence 
Estimate submitted by Richard Helms, “The Likelihood of Major Hostilities in 
Korea”  

Document 158. 28 May 1968: 1st U.S.-ROK National Defense Cabinet Member 
Meeting Joint Declaration. (classification #: 729.21US 1968, record #: 2634) 

Document 159. 3 June 1968: Report from the Embassy of Hungary in North Korea 
to the Hungarian Foreign Ministry 

Document 160. 4 June 1968: Political Report No. 21 from Ambassador Henke to the 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Prague, “No. 21 of the Work Plan Prepared by M. 
Holub” 

Document 161. 18 June 1968: Note on a Conversation with the Director of the First 
Department of the Foreign Ministry of the DPRK, Comrade Ri In-gyu, on 15 
June 1968, from 4:00 p.m. to 5:30 p.m., Embassy of the GDR in the DPRK 

Document 162. 29 July 1968: Memorandum on a Conversation with the First 
Secretary of the Embassy of the USSR in the DPRK, Comrade Zvetkov, ans 
Comrade Jarck on 26 July 1968 between 14.30 and 16.15 in the USSR Embassy 

Document 163. 27 August 1968: [NODIS,CACTUS] Telegram from AMEMBASSY 
SEOUL to SECSTATE, 0800Z, (Seoul 9415) 

Document 164. 29 August 1968: Contents of Meeting Between Councilor Thomas M. 
Judd and Director Yoon Ha-jung. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 2663) 

Document 165. September/October 1968: Action Memorandum from Acting 
Secretary of State Katzenbach to President Johnson, Washington, “Pueblo” 

Document 166. 24 October 1968: [Secret] Memorandum for the Director of Central 
Intelligence from Deputy Director for Plans Thomas H. Karamessines, 



“Comments on Rumanian Deputy Foreign Minister Malita Concerning North 
Korea” 

Document 167. 8 November 1968: Speech Notes from the Headquarters for Anti-
espionage Policy Regarding the North Korean Puppet Regime’s Armed 
Communist Guerilla Infiltration of Uljin. (classification #: 729.55 1968, record 
#: 2661) 

Document 168. 13 November 1968: Conclusion Regarding the North Korean Puppet 
Regime’s Armed Communist Guerilla Infiltration of Areas Such As Uljin. 
(classification #: 729.55 1968, record #: 2661) 

Document 169. The National Defense Ministry’s Briefing Documents on 
Denunciation of North Korean Provocations Aimed at Foreigners Residing in 
South Korea. (classification #: 729.55 1968, record #: 2661) 

Document 170. 3 December 1968: Action Memorandum From the Under Secretary 
of State (Katzenbach) to President Johnson, Washington, “USS Pueblo” 

Document 171. 10 December 1968: [Secret] Memorandum for Mr. Warnke, “Pueblo 
Negotiations” 

Document 172. 18 December 1968: [Secret, NODIS, CACTUS] Telegram from 
Department of State to AMEMBASSY LONDON, PARIS, SAIGON, 
CINCPAC, SEOUL 

Document 173. 18 December 1968: Information Memorandum from the Under 
Secretary to the Secretary of State, “Pueblo Negotiations” 

Document 174. 19 December 1968: Contents of the 26th Closed Panmunjum Meeting. 
(classification #: 729.55, record #: 2663) 

Document 175. 19 December 1968: Summary of talks between South Korean 
Director of the Bureau of Europe and America, Yoon Ha-jung and Councilor 
Judd of the US Embassy, Seoul 

Document 176. 20 December 1968: Beginning of the 27th Closed Panmunjum 
Meeting. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 2663) 

Document 177. 22 December 1968: [Confidential] Telegram from SECSTATE to 
AMEMBASSY SEOUL, 2300Z, (State 291117) 

Document 178. 23 December 1968: [Confidential] Joint Message Form from JCS to 
CINCPAC, “VUNC Policy Guidance” 

Document 179. 23 December 1968: [Secret-Sensitive] Memorandum for the 
President from Nicholas Katzenbach, “Review of United States Policy Toward 
Korea: Status Report” 

Document 180. 26 December 1968: Contents of Meeting Between Councilor 
Thomas M. Judd and Director Yoon Ha-jung. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 
2663) 

Document 181. 27 December 1968: Contents of Meeting Between Councilor 
Thomas M. Judd and Director Yoon Ha-jung. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 
2663) 

Document 182. 30 December 1968: Contents of Meeting Between Councilor 
Thomas M. Judd and Director Yoon Ha-jung. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 
2663) 

Document 183. 30 December 1968: Release of the Pueblo Crew. (classification #: 
729.55, record #: 2663)  



 
1969 

 
Document 184. 8 January 1969: [Secret] Letter to William J Porter from Winthrop G. 

Brown 
Document 185. 15 January 1969: [Secret] Telegram from SECSTATE to 

AMEMBASSY SEOUL, 2332Z, “ROK Goodwill Mission and Pato,” (State 
007104) 

Document 186. 23 January 1969: [Secret] National Security Study Memorandum 9, 
“Review of the International Situation” 

Document 187. 29 January 1969: [Confidential] Airgram to Department of State 
from AMEBASSY SEOUL, “National Unification Institute” 

Document 188. 29 January 1969: Contents of Message between Embassy Adviser 
Thomas M. Judd and Director Yoon Ha-jung. (classification #: 729.21 US, 
record #: 3100) 

Document 189. 19 February 1969: Summary Record of Communication between 
Embassy Adviser Thomas M. Judd and Director Yoon Ha-jung. (classification 
#: 729.21 US, record #: 3100) 

Document 190. 21 March 1969: National Security Study Memorandum 34 from 
Henry Kissinger to the Secretary of State, Secretary of Defense, and Director of 
Central Intelligence, “Contingency Planning for Korea” 

Document 191. 27 March 1969: [Secret] Letter from Henry Bardach to Ambassador 
Brown, “Focus Retina and Consultations in Seoul” 

Document 192. 8 April 1969: Letter from President of the Republic of Korea Park 
Chung Hee to President Richard M. Nixon 

Document 193. 15 April 1969: Telegram from the Department of State to 
AMEMBASSY MOSCOW 

Document 194. 15 April 1969: [Secret] Intelligence note from Thomas L. Hughes, 
INR, to the Secretary of State, “North Korea: Estimated Reactions of Selected 
East Asian Countries and the Soviet Union to Possible US Courses of Action” 

Document 195. 15 April 1969: [Secret] Report by George H. Aldrich to Ambassador 
Brown, “Relationship of Armistice Agreement to the North Korean Shooting 
Down of a U.S. Reconnaissance Aircraft” 

Document 196. 15 April 1969: 10:00AM, Telephone conversation between National 
Security Adviser Kissinger and Secretary Rogers 

Document 197. 15 April 1969: 5:40 PM, Telephone conversation between President 
Nixon and National Security Adviser Kissinger 

Document 198. 15 April 1969: 6:30 PM, Telephone conversation between President 
Nixon and National Security Adviser Kissinger 

Document 199. 15 April 1969: 10:00 PM, Telephone conversation between President 
Nixon and National Security Adviser Kissinger 

Document 200. 15 April 1969: 11:00 PM, Telephone conversation between National 
Security Adviser Kissinger and Dr. Kramer 

Document 201. 16 April 1969: Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 
SECSTATE, 1415Z, (Seoul 01907) 



Document 202. 16 April 1969: Memorandum for the President from Henry A. 
Kissinger, “NSC Meeting on Korea, April 16, 1969 – 10:00 a.m.” 

Document 203. 16 April 1969: Memorandum for the Record, “NSC Meeting on 
North Korean Downing of U.S. EC-121 Reconnaissance Aircraft” 

Document 204. 16 April 1969: [Secret] Intelligence note from Thomas L. Hughes, 
INR, to the Secretary of State, “Pyongyang’s Motivations in Downing US 
Reconnaissance Plane” 

Document 205. 16 April 1969: [Confidential] Memorandum of Conversation 
between Singjin Chyun, Kwang Soo Choi, Winthrop G. Brown, Leroy E. 
Debold, “EC-121 Incident” 

Document 206. 16 April 1969: [Confidential] Telegram from the Department of 
State to AMEMBASSY MOSCOW 

Document 207. 16 April 1969: U.S. Military Reconnaissance Aircraft Downing 
Incident Regarding the North Korean Puppet Regime. (classification #: 729.55, 
record # 3144) 

Document 208. 17 April 1969: North Korean Violations of the Armistice Agreement 
Document 209. 17 April 1969: Telegram from AMEMBASSY MOSCOW to 

SECSTATE, 1510Z, “Missing EC-121,” (Moscow 01628) 
Document 210. 17 April 1969: [Confidential] Telegram from the Department of 

State to AMEMBASSY MOSCOW, “EC-121 Rescue Operations” 
Document 211. 17 April 1969: Telegram from the Department of State to 

AMEMBASSY MOSCOW, “Missing EC-121” 
Document 212. 17 April 1969: Foreign Minister’s Statement as it Relates to the U.S. 

Reconnaissance Aircraft Downing Incident. (classification #: 729.55, record # 
3144) 

Document 213. 18 April 1969: [Secret] Telegram from the Department of State to 
AMEMBASSY SEOUL, AMEMBASSY TOKYO, “EC-121” 

Document 214. 18 April 1969: [Confidential] Memorandum of Conversation 
between Singjin Chyun, Kwang Soo Choi, Winthrop G. Brown, Leroy E. 
Debold, “EC-121 Incident” 

Document 215. 18 April 1969: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 
SECSTATE, 0300Z, (Seoul 01940) 

Document 216. 18 April 1969: [Limited Official Use] Intelligence note from Thomas 
L. Hughes, INR, to the Secretary of State, “USSR-North Korea: Moscow’s 
Ambiguous Position” 

Document 217. 18 April 1969: Call Record between Judd and Yoon. (classification 
#: 729.55, record # 3144) 

Document 218. 18 April 1969: Summary of President Park Chung Hee’s Meeting 
With U.S. Ambassador to South Korea Porter. (classification #: 729.55, record # 
3144) 

Document 219. 19 April 1969: State Department circular to all posts, “President’s 
Decision on Reconnaissance Aircraft” 

Document 220. 19 April 1969: 9:25 AM, Telephone conversations between 
Secretary of State Rogers and National Security Adviser Kissinger 

Document 221. 19 April 1969: South Korean Government’s Measures Relating to 
the Downing Incident by the North Korean Puppet Regime of a U.S. 



Reconnaissance Aircraft, and the Incident’s Progression. (classification #: 
729.55, record # 3144) 

Document 222. 21 April 1969: [Secret] Intelligence note from Thomas L. Hughes, 
INR, to the Secretary of State, “North Korea: Pyongyang Ponders” 

Document 223. 21 April 1969: [Confidential] Telegram from AMEMBASSY 
MOSCOW to SECSTATE, 1940Z, (Moscow 01684) 

Document 224. 21 April 1969: [Confidential] Telegram from the Department of 
State to AMEMBASSY MOSCOW 

Document 225. 21 April 1969: Memorandum for the President from Henry A. 
Kissinger, “Pueblo” 

Document 226. 22 April 1969: Telegram from AMCONSUL HONG KONG  to 
SECSTATE, 0933Z, “Peking Radio Reports April 15 Downing of US 
Reconnaissance Plane,” (Hong K 02173) 

Document 227. 22 April 1969: Intelligence Note from INR-Thomas L. Hughes to the 
Secretary, “Peking Breaks Silence on EC-121, Charges US-Soviet Collusion” 

Document 228. 22 April 1969: [Confidential] Telegram from the Department of 
State to AMEMBASSY MOSCOW, “US Forces in Sea of Japan” 

Document 229. 22 April 1969: [Confidential] Telegram from AMEMBASSY 
MOSCOW to SECSTATE, 1420Z, “US Reply to Soviet Government on Shoot-
Down of US Plane,” (Moscow 01688) 

Document 230. 22 April 1969: South Korean Government’s Diplomatic Measures 
and the Response of the Governments and the Press of Other Countries (22 
APR-12 MAY). (classification #: 729.55, record # 3144) 

Document 231. 24 April 1969: [Secret] Intelligence Note from INR – Thomas L. 
Hughes to The Secretary, “Pyongyang Reacts to President’s Decision on 
Reconnaissance Flights” 

Document 232. 24 April 1969: Telegram from AMEMBASSY MOSCOW to 
SECSTATE, “North Korean Aircraft Incident,” 1335Z, (Moscow 1725) 

Document 233. 30 April 1969: [Confidential] Letter from President Park Chung Hee 
to President Nixon enclosed in Memorandum for Mr. Henry A. Kissinger the 
White House, “Talking Paper for the President’s Meeting with the Korean 
Deputy Prime Minister, Mark Choong Hoon” 

Document 234. 30 April 1969: [Top Secret] Memorandum of Conversation, 
“Contingency Plans for Strikes on North Korea” 

Document 235. 1 May 1969: South Korean Government’s Position Regarding the 
U.S. Reconnaissance Aircraft Downing Incident, Basic Guide. (classification #: 
729.55, record # 3144) 

Document 236. 15 May 1969: South Korean Government’s Diplomatic Measures 
and the Response of the Governments and the Press of Other Countries (22 
APR-12 MAY). (classification #: 729.55, record # 3144) 

Document 237. 15 May 1969: U.S. Forces Korea Withdrawal Announcement by U.S. 
House of Representatives Military Committee Member Representative Young. 
(classification #: 729.23, record #: 3104) 

Document 238. 2 June 1969: U.S. Defense Vice-secretary Delegation Foreign 
Minister Courtesy Call, Meeting Contents. (classification #: 729.21 US, record 
#: 3100) 



Document 239. 3 June 1969: [Top Secret] Telegram from GEN WHEELER, CJCS, 
to ADM MCCAIN, CINCPAC and GEN HOLLOWAY, CINCSAC, 
“Retaliatory Strike Against the Changjin Power Plant in North Korea (S)”  

Document 240. 4 June 1969: 2nd U.S.-ROK Defense Cabinet-level Meeting Joint 
Statement. (classification #: 729.21 US, record #: 3100) 

Document 241. 5 June 1969: U.S. House of Representatives, Representative 
STEPHEN YOUNG’s Announcement Insisting on U.S. Forces Korea 
Withdrawal. (classification #: 729.23, record #: 3104) 

Document 242. 10 June 1969: Letter from South Korean President Park to US 
President Nixon  

Document 243. 25 June 1969: Distribution of Government Memorandum on 
Provocative Activities of the North Korean Puppet Regime. (classification #: 
729.55, record #: 3147) 

Document 244. 2 July 1969: 2nd U.S. ROK Defense Cabinet Member-level Meeting 
Results Report Summary. (classification #: 729.21 US, record #: 3100) 

Document 245. 3 July 1969: [Top Secret] Memorandum for Dr. Henry A. Kissinger 
from Colonel Robert M. Behr, “WSAG Meeting of July 2, 1969” 

Document 246. 7 July – 1 August 1969: [Secret] Secretary’s Visit to Korea, 
“Objectives Paper” 

Document 247. 31 July 1969: Memorandum from Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 
Republic of Korea 

Document 248. 8 August 1969: Intelligence Memorandum from Central Intelligence 
Agency, Directorate of Intelligence, “North Korean Political Strategy” 

Document 249. 8 August 1969: Our (South Korean) Government’s Position 
Regarding the Joint Statement Announced Immediately Following the U.S.-
ROK Summit Meeting. (classification #: 724.11 US, record #: 3017) 

Document 250. 14 August 1969, Draft Minutes of NSC meeting, Western White 
House, “Korea and China” 

Document 251. 14 August 1969: [Secret] Talking Points from NSC Meeting, 
“Korea” 

Document 252. 17 August 1969: [Confidential] Telegram from AMEMBASSY 
SEOUL to SECSTATE  “Possible Downed US Helicopter,” 0620Z, (Seoul 
4452) 

Document 253. 17 August 1969: [Secret] Telegram from BONESTEEL COMUSK 
to ADM MCCAIN, 0744Z 

Document 254. 17 August 1969: U.S. Miltary Helicopter Downing, Basic Document. 
(classification #: 729.55, record #: 3146) 

Document 255. [Secret] Telegram from Marshall Green to the Secretary of State, 
“Your Participation in the Visit of President Park Chung Hee of the Republic of 
Korea August 21-22, 1969 – BRIEFING MEMORANDUM” 

Document 256. [Secret] “Talking Points for Ministerial Level Meetings” 
Document 257. [Top Secret] Memorandum for the President, “Your Meeting with 

President Park Chung Hee of Korea, August 21, 1969, 11:30 a.m.” (With 
enclosed talking points and background papers) 

Document 258. 20 August 1969: [Secret] Memorandum for the President from 
Henry A. Kissinger, “Your Meetings with President Park” 



Document 259. 21 August 1969: [Eyes Only] Memorandum of Conversation, 1615-
1815 hours, St. Francis Hotel, San Francisco, “Talks Between President Nixon 
and President Pak” 

Document 260. 21 August 1969: Meeting of U.S. and ROK Cabinet Members in 
Connection with President Park Chung Hee’s Official Visit to the U.S. 
(classification #: 724.11 US, record #: 3017) 

Document 261. 27 August 1969: Comprehensive Report on the U.S.-ROK Summit 
Meeting. (classification #: 724.11 US, record #: 3017) 

Document 262. 4 September 1969: [Confidential] Telegram from AMEMBASSY 
SEOUL to the SECSTATE, 0940Z, “Downed Helicopter – Recommendations 
Resulting from 294th MAC Meeting,” (Seoul 4846) 

Document 263. 2 October 1969: [Secret] Memorandum for the President from 
Secretary of State William P. Rogers, “Helicopter Crew Members Held by 
North Koreans” 

Document 264. 10 October 1969: Record of Communication between Embassy 
Adviser Thomas M. Judd and Director Yoon Ha-jung. (classification #: 729.23, 
record #: 3104) 

Document 265. 14 October 1969: [Secret] Memorandum for Mr. Theodore L. Eliot, 
Jr., State Secretariat, from Jeanne W. Davis, “Helicopter Crew Members Held 
by North Korea (S/S 14718) 

Document 266. 15 October 1969: Meaning of U.S. Secretary of Defense Laird’s 
Announcement and the U.S.’ Position. (classification #: 729.23, record #: 3104) 

Document 267. 22 October 1969: [Secret] Memorandum for the Chairman, Joint 
Chiefs of Staff, from Nels C. Johnson, “Constraining the Arms Race between 
the ROK and North Korea (C)” 

Document 268. 23 October 1969: Excerpt from Vice-minister of Foreign Affairs 
Choi’s Speech at the Korean-American Association. (classification #: 729.23, 
record #: 3104) 

Document 269. 28 October 1969: Contents of Meeting between Vice-minister of 
Foreign Affairs Choi Kyu-ha and U.S. Ambassador to South Korea Porter. 
(classification #: 729.23, record #: 3104) 

Document 270. 29 October 1969: [Confidential] Telegram from AMEMBASSY 
SEOUL to SECSTATE, 0920Z, Downed Helicopter: Third Closed Meeting,” 
(Seoul 05957) 

Document 271. 31 October 1969: Current Situation of North Korean Puppet 
Regime’s Armed Infiltrations Regarding South Korea. (classification #: 729.55, 
record #: 3146) 

Document 272. 1 November 1969: [Confidential] Important Questions presented on 
the Occasion of the Visit by the Congressional Delegation of the United States, 
Military of Foreign Affairs, Republic of Korea, Seoul.  

Document 273. 5 November 1969: Letter from Edmund H. Kelly to Curtis W. 
Kamman regarding support for the National Unification Board  

Document 274. 6 November 1969: [Restricted] Memorandum Presented by 
Chairman of Foreign Relations Committee of National Assembly, Republic of 
Korea, Seoul 



Document 275. 15 November 1969: [Confidential] Telegram from AMEMBASSY 
SEOUL to AMEMBASSY TOKYO, CINCPAC, USUN, “Limited ROK 
Contacts with North Korea”  

Document 276. 17 November 1969: [Confidential] Telegram from AMEMBASSY 
SEOUL to SECSTATE, 0850Z, “Downed Helicopter Pilots,” (Seoul 06289) 

Document 277. 17 November 1969: Letter from Curtis W. Kamman to Edmund H. 
Kelly regarding ROK’s interest in reunification 

Document 278. 18 November 1969: [Confidential] Telegram from AMEMBASSY 
SEOUL to SECSTATE, 0930Z, “Downed Helicopter,” (Seoul 06312) 

Document 279. 21 November 1969: [Confidential] Telegram from Secretary of State 
Rogers to AMEMBASSY SEOUL CINCUNC/COMUSK, “Downed 
Helicopter” 

Document 280. 24 November 1969: [Confidential] Telegram from AMEMBASSY 
SEOUL to SECSTATE, 100Z, “Downed Helicopter-Fifth Closed Meeting,” 
(Seoul 06382) 

Document 281. 24 November 1969: Draft Insert for Senate Appropriations 
Committee, Subcommittee on Foreign Operations, Hearing Transcript, 24 
November 1969, Page 235, Line 12, “Additional Money for the Republic of 
Korea and the Republic of China” 

Document 282. 24 November 1969: Memorandum for Henry Kissinger from the 
President 

Document 283. 25 November 1969: [Secret] Memorandum for the President from 
Henry A. Kissinger, “General Wheeler on his Conversation with President 
Park of Korea” 

Document 284. 6 December 1969: [Top Secret] Telegram from ADM MCCAIN to 
GEN WHEELER, 0355Z, “Summary of Conversation with Gen Mun, ROK 
CJCS”  

Document 285. 18 December 1969: Provocations and Infiltration of the North 
Korean Pupet Regime. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 3146) 

Document 286. 30 December 1969: [Secret] Memorandum for the President from the 
Acting Secretary of State Nicholas Katzenbach, “FY 1970 Economic Assistance 
for Korea”  

Document 287. 31 December 1969 (approx. date): Contents Regarding Details 
Regarding Provocation and Infiltration by the North Korean Puppet Regime, 
Military Assistance Regarding South Korea, Vietnam Issue, Okinawa Issue, and 
Economic Assistance to South Korea. (classification #: 729.55, record #: 3147) 

 
1970 

Document 288. 2 January 1970: [Secret] Telegram from AMEMBASSY SEOUL to 
Department of State, “Conversation with General Kim Kyung Wook” 

Document 289. 13 January 1970: The current situation regarding infiltrations into the 
South by the North Korean Puppet Regime in 1969. (classification #: 729.55, 
record #: 3146) 

Document 290. 17 January 1970: [Secret] Memorandum for the President from 
Robert Mayo, “Economic Assistance Program for Korea FY 1970” 



Document 291. 31 January 1970: [Secret] Memorandum for the President from 
Henry A. Kissinger, “Economic Assistance Program for Korea FY 1970” 

Document 292. 3 February 1970: [Secret] Memorandum for Dr. Kissinger from 
Laurence E. Lynn, Jr., “Review Group Meeting on Korea” 

Document 293. 17 February 1970: [Secret] Memorandum for the Chairman, NSC 
Review Group from F.T. Unger, Lieutenant General, USA, Chairman, JCA 
Representative to NSC Review Group, “NSSM-27, US Policy for Korea (U)” 

Document 294. 25 February 1970: [Secret] Draft Instructions to Ambassador Porter 
from Secretaries Rogers and Laird, “NSSM 27 – Possible Withdrawal of US 
Division” 

Document 295. 26 February 1970: [Secret] Memorandum for Dr. Kissinger from 
Laurence E. Lynn, Jr., “ROK Force Capabilities” 

Document 296. 27 February 1970: Memorandum from Department of State, 
“Highlights of Symington Subcommittee Session on Korea (1), February 25, 
1970” 

Document 297. 27 February 1970: Memorandum from Department of State, 
“Highlights of Symington Subcommittee Session on Korea (2), February 25, 
1970” 

Document 298. 3 March 1970: [Secret] Memorandum for the President from Henry 
A. Kissinger, “NSC Meeting on Korea” 

Document 299. 4 March 1970: [Secret] Talking Points for the President, NSC 
Meeting – March 4, 1970 

Document 300. 5 March 1970: [Limited Official Use] Telegram from 
AMEMBASSY SEOUL to SECSTATE, “Korean Public Opinion Poll on 
National Unification” 



CRISIS AND CONFRONTATION ON  
THE KOREAN PENINSULA: 

1968-1969 
 

 Chronology of Events 
 

 

1961 
 

  Major General Park Chung-hee led a bloodless military coup and assumed power  
  in South Korea  

 

1965 
 

  South Korean troops begin fighting in Vietnam 
 

1966 
 

 
October Second Party Conference is held in North Korea. After a series of purges and  
  dismissals, the Political Committee comes to be dominated by partisans and  
  partisan-related officials 
 

1967 
 

  The purge of the Kapsan Faction in the DPRK 
 

North Korean officials repeatedly complained about U.S. “espionage boats” 
entering into North Korean territorial waters 

 
14 June South Korean Counter Intelligence Corps announced that on the 3rd of June, 28 

North Korean commandos intruded into South Korea’s eastern coast  
 
23 June The U.S. collected information on a North Korean plot to assassinate South 

Korean President Park Chung Hee and to dispatch armed spy units into the South 
   

 

1968 
 

5 January President Park emphasized that there were clear signs of North Korean plots to 
dispatch armed spy units almost 10 times the size of those of the previous year  

 



6 January Radio Pyongyang announced that the U.S. Army had again dispatched armed 
navy vessels into North Korean territorial waters 

 
11 January The U.S.S Pueblo (AGER-2) departed for the East Sea from Saesbo, Japan 
 

Radio Pyongyang issued another stern warning stating: “As long as U.S. troops 
conduct reconnaissance by sending spy boats, our naval ship will continue to take 
determined counter-measures.” 

 
21 January An armed North Korean guerrilla unit of 31 commandos launched a raid on the  
  Blue House Raid in an attempt to assassinate President Park 
 
22 January  South Korean Counter-espionage agency launched 
 

The DPRK announced over loudspeakers along the DMZ that the North Korean 
guerrilla unit advanced from Kyungbok Palace to Seodaemun and that the unit 
successfully killed a South Korean national police officer, the Chief of Police, and 
destroyed four military trucks. Furthermore, the combat unit escaped from Park’s 
clique and is continuing its mission  

 
23 January U.S.S Pueblo was boarded and captured along with its crew by North Korean  
  forces 
 
  US Ambassador to Moscow, Llewellyn Thompson met with Soviet Deputy  
  Foreign Minister Vasily Kuznetsov 
 
  Commander-in-Chief of United Nations Command Korea, General Charles H.  
  Bonesteel met with South Korean Minister of Defense Kim Seong Eun 
 
  US Ambassador to South Korea, William J. Porter meets with South Korean  
  Prime Minister Chong Il Kwon 
   
24 January The Legal Office of U.S. Department of State concluded that the U.S. does not 

have the right to use force against North Korea 
  
 During the 261st meeting of Military Armistice Commission (MAC) at 
 Panmunjom U.S. Admiral John V. Smith discussed the Blue House Raid and 
 U.S.S Pueblo Incident with North Korean Major General Pak Chung Kuk. 

 
  President Park reassured Ambassador Porter that South Korea will not engage in  
  unilateral retaliatory action against North Korea 
 
  Commander of the U.S. Seventh Fleet directed forces to be prepared to engage in  
  several operations 
 

North Korea declared that the Blue House Raid was a struggle against the South 
government by indigenous guerillas within the South 

 



25 January US President Lyndon B. Johnson authorized U.S. Secretary of Defense Robert  
  McNamara to recall air squadrons and support from the Air Force and Navy to  
  active duty. Johnson also proposed sending additional aircrafts to South Korea 

 
US Ambassador to the United Nations, Arthur Goldberg submitted a letter to the 
President of U.N. Security Council requesting a meeting of the Security Council 
be held to discuss North Korea’s recent actions 

 
  President Johnson sent a letter to Soviet Premier Kosygin urging the U.S.S.R to  
  aid in U.S. efforts to resolve the situation and to retrieve the Pueblo and its crew.  
  U.S.S.R alerted the U.S. that it could not act as intermediary for the Pueblo  
  incident 

 
South Korean Foreign Minister Choi Kyu Ha urged Ambassador Porter to give 
equal treatment to the Blue House Raid and the Pueblo incident in the Security 
Council and other meetings 

 
  The U.S. approached the Neutral Nations Supervisory Commission to contact  
  North Korea for the names of injured and deceased crew members of the Pueblo.  
  The State Department also sent circular letters to all diplomatic posts with  
   instructions for embassies to brief host country officials on U.S. stance on 
North    Korea’s provocations 
 
  In a meeting with Polish and Czech members of the Neutral Nations Supervisory  
  Commission, DPRK General Pak Chung Kuk claimed that Pueblo discussions  
  were out of the question until the United Nations Command explained why the  
  Pueblo was in North Korean territorial waters and apologized for the   
  encroachment 

 
26 January South Korea expressed concern that if North Korea was invited to a meeting of 

the UN Security Council, this could be a de facto recognition of the DPRK. The 
U.S. emphasized that South Korea must make a strong case to the world at the 
Security Council 

 
US Ambassador to Japan, U. Alexis Johnson in Tokyo informed Vice Foreign 
Minister Ushiba that the U.S. was transferring 20 U.S. Aircrafts to South Korea. 
President Park informed the U.S. that South Korea welcomed any further troop 
transfers to Korea 

 
North Korean Minister of Defense Kim Chang Bong asked the Soviet 
Ambassador to Pyongyang to supply weapons and materials to deflect possible 
American air raids 
 
An urgent telegram was sent from Seoul to the South Korean Ambassadors to the 
U.S. and the UN stating that the South Korean government attached greater 
significance to deterring North Korea’s invitation to the UN Security Council than 
it did its own invitation  

  



27 January General Bonesteel met with the South Korea Joint Chiefs of Staff. The South 
Korea government stressed three points: (1) The U.S. needed to coordinate with 
and to inform South Korea of important decisions (2) most people in South Korea 
believed the U.S. considered the Pueblo incident more important and thus had not 
done enough regarding the Blue House raid (3) South Korea and the U.S. must act 
in a way that discouraged future subversive actions on the part of North Korea 

 
  Soviet Premier Kosygin responded to President Johnson’s letter (25 January) and  
  informed him that the U.S.S.R did not share the same interpretation of the Pueblo 
  incident as did the U.S., and that the U.S.S.R could not act as an intermediary 
 

Spokesman of North Korean Ministry of Foreign Affairs criticized the U.S. and 
South Korea on the grounds that they were drumming up anti-communist 
sentiment and aggression toward North Korea 

 
28 January Embassy in Seoul reports that South Korea fears of closed Military Armistice 
 Commission-North Korean talks would leave out Blue House Raid and other 
 North Korean infiltrations while focusing on Pueblo alone 
 
  State Department rejects Japanese proposal for a tripartite fact finding   
  commission based on Japan’s suggestion that the Soviet Union be included in the  
  commission. State Department welcomes other Japanese efforts to support the  
  U.S., particularly in the United Nations 
 
  Admiral Smith was authorized to sign a receipt for the prisoners, although the  
  receipt may not contain an admission of guilt or an apology 
 

South Korean Minister of Foreign Affairs Choi Kyu Ha reminded the South 
Korean Ambassador of suspicions of indirect contact between the U.S. and North 
Korea by means of the Polish government. In doing so, North Korea would try to 
increase its image in international society and under these circumstances the 
South Korean government will express a strong objection to the U.S. Embassy in 
Korea 

 
North Korea sent a message to the U.S. through the Neutral Nation’s Supervisory 
Commission stating that if the U.S. recognized the Pueblo’s crew as POWs and 
revealed its intention to negotiate, North Korea would consider repatriating the 
crew back to the U.S. 

   
South Korean Minister of Defense Kim Seong Eun announced that the DMZ 
would be barb-wired and that counterespionage equipment was deployed earlier 
than scheduled 

 
29 January In a meeting with the Canadian Ambassador to Moscow, Soviet Deputy Foreign  
  Minister Kozyrev explained that by raising the issue of the U.S.S. Pueblo in the  
  UN Security Council, progress was impeded. Kozyrev also suggested that the  
  U.S. ought to withdraw the U.S.S Enterprise from the area 
 



  South Korean Ambassador Kim stressed to Assistant Secretary of State Joseph  
  Sisco three points: (1) there should be no direct contact between the U.S. and  
  North Korea in the case of mediation (2) a U.S. mediator should speak with South 
  Korea prior to speaking with North Korea (3) South Korea opposes any Security  
  Council resolution which would only be ineffective against North Korea. Sisco  
  denied reports of direct U.S.-North Korea talks 
 
  The U.S. sent a message expressing a willingness to negotiate with North Korea  
  in order to repatriate the crew of the U.S.S. Pueblo  
 
30 January The US State Department instructed UNCMAC negotiators to make strong  
  statements on both the Blue House Raid and the Pueblo incident  
 

The Viet Cong and North Vietnamese Communist forces launch the Tet 
Offensive. 

 
North Korea requested military and other assistance from the U.S.S.R in the event 
of a possible outbreak of war 

 
31 January United Nations Pakistani Representative Shahi recommended that five                          
  non-permanent Afro-Asian Security Council members meet in Geneva to urge  
  North Korea to return the U.S.S. Pueblo and its crew  
 

The Soviet ambassador to North Korea met with Kim Il Sung and requested that 
the crew of the U.S.S. Pueblo be expelled from North Korea expediently 

 
1 February The US embassy in Seoul reported that North Korea preferred to use the MAC  
  channel as opposed to the Neutral Nations Supervisory Commission channel to  
  communicate. The State Department reported that the U.S. was now in direct  
  contact with North Korea through the MAC and that a formal meeting had been  
  scheduled at Panmunjom for the 2nd of February 
  

South Korean Presidential Secretary, General Yi Hu Rak reiterated the fear that 
South Korean security concerns would not be resolved at MAC. Yi also reported 
that South Korea had been doing a considerable amount of military planning 

   
  Richard M. Nixon announced his bid for the Republican presidential nomination. 
 

Foreign Minister Choi Kyu Ha received a report from South Korean Ambassador 
to the UN that the U.S. reacted positively to the prospect of meeting in 
Panmunjom  

   
2 February A MAC Senior Members meeting was held at Panmunjom. The meeting was 

inconclusive with Admiral Smith and General Pak presenting their differing 
interpretations of the event  

 
In a meeting with US Ambassador Porter, President Park said that if North Korea 
would not cease aggressive activities, South Korea would be forced to retaliate 



 
Through an aide-memoir, the South Korean government informed the US 
Embassy in Korea of its position regarding the Panmunjom meetings. The South 
Korean government would not raise a different opinion on meetings between the 
U.S. and North Korea, on the conditions that (1) the Blue House and Pueblo 
incident receive equal treatment (2) the Blue House raid be recognized as a 
violation of the armistice agreement by North Korea (3) the meetings be open to 
South Korea 

  
3 February President Lyndon B. Johnson sent a letter to President Park Chung Hee 

expressing his sympathy for the Blue House Raid, and also expressing his desire 
to strengthen South Korea’s internal security and to resolve the Pueblo Incident 

 
Soviet Ambassador Dobryin meets with Ambassador Thompson in Moscow and 
says the situation could be resolved if the U.S. takes no further actions to increase 
tension. Dobryin reminds Thompson that the Soviet Union would be forced to 
react if the U.S. uses force to resolve the situation. Dobryin says it would be 
unlikely for the North Koreans to release the crew without an apology from the 
U.S. 

 
  Soviet Premier Kosygin delivered another letter to President Johnson. Kosygin  
  reiterated the North Korean view of the Pueblo incident and restated that the  
  U.S. could not resolve the situation through threats of force 
 
4 February During the second MAC meeting at Panmunjom, General Pak levied accusations 

against the U.S. for intensifying pressures on the peninsula and demanded an 
apology. Admiral Smith asked for the names of the dead and wounded crew 
members of the U.S.S. Pueblo 

 
The South Korean Ministry of Foreign Affairs complained to the US Embassy 
that it was not keeping the Foreign Ministry properly informed of the MAC 
meetings 

 
Ambassador Porter reported that President Park was “clearly moved by President 
Johnson’s message” from the 3rd of February. Park also claimed that the South 
Korean public was favorably disposed to public MAC meetings, although Porter 
was hesitant about the idea. 

  
5 February During the third MAC meeting at Panmunjom, Admiral Smith blamed the North 

Koreans for increasing tensions on the peninsula, citing their infiltration and 
subversive activities in South Korea. General Pak requested that each country 
appoint special representatives  

 
President Park sent a reply letter to President Johnson. He thanked President 
Johnson for his support, and cited over 5,000 armistice violations made by North 
Korea 

 



  Ambassador Porter is asked to consult with President Park prior to MAC   
  meetings. The State Department reiterated that MAC meetings would not be held  
 publicly, but that President Park would be fully briefed following each meeting 
 

A high level meeting took place at the Blue House where South Korean officials 
demanded the participation of the South in MAC meetings at Panmunjom 

 
6 February South Korean Prime Minister Chong Il Kwon reiterated to Ambassador Porter and 

General Bonesteel that closed meetings between the U.S. and North Korea 
generate public suspicion. Chong Il Kwon asked that a South Korean 
representative be invited to the meetings  

 
The U.S.S Enterprise was ordered to move southwest to the Straits of Tsushima 
to ease tensions in the area 

   
The South Korean National Assembly urged President Park to undertake 
unilateral steps towards North Korea because the Blue House raid was a critical 
incident threatening the national security of the South 

 
7 February The fourth MAC meeting at was held at Panmunjom where General Pak   
  recommended that the meetings remain closed and then gave Admiral Smith a list 
  of the dead and wounded crew members of the U.S.S. Pueblo 
 
  President Johnson sent another letter to President Park to reassure him of the  
  U.S. commitment to South Korea’s defense and security and to calm suspicions of 
  the closed U.S.-North Korean meetings 
 
8 February Ambassador Porter met with President Park in a lengthy meeting in which Park  
  noted his dissatisfaction with the removal of the U.S.S Enterprise  
 

Prime Minister Chong reassured Ambassador Porter that South Korea would not 
remove its troops from Vietnam 

 
President Johnson appointed Cyrus Vance as his personal representative for talks 
with President Park and other high level South Korean officials 

  
9 February President Parks sent a response to President Johnson’s 7 February letter stating  
  3 points: (1) Blue House raid should also be on the agenda of the Armistice  
  committee (2) the U.S. should persuade North Korea to recognize and apologize  
  for the Blue House raid and to declare in a formal statement that it would not  
  intrude into South Korea again (3) in case North Korea does not agree, the U.S.  
  and South Korea should take retaliatory measures against North Korea under the  
  mutual defense treaty  
  
10 February The fifth closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom 
 
12 February Cyrus Vance met with Prime Minister Chong Il Kwon and Foreign Minister Choi 
  Kyu Ha.  



 
Vance met with President Park for five and half hours. Park indicated that he 
strongly feels that the North was planning for an all out invasion of the South. 
Park requested a public statement be issued which declared that any further 
provocations would be met with retaliation. Park also complained about the 
absence of South Korea in negotiations with the North. Vance reassured Park of 
the shared interests between the U.S. and South Korea, but warned against any 
retaliatory action 

 
13 February Cyrus Vance met with the Prime Minister, Foreign Minister, and other top South 

Korean officials. The Foreign Minister presented Vance with two documents, a 
Joint Defense Declaration and an Agreed Minutes between South Korea and the 
U.S. Each document called for retaliatory actions in the event of further North 
Korean provocations. 

 
  South Korean Cabinet Council extended the period of military service to 6  
  months 
   
14 February Cyrus Vance met with the South Korean Cabinet. It was determined that the Joint 

Defense Declaration and Agreed Minutes were both unacceptable.  
 
  Final joint communiqué between Vance/Park agreed upon 
 
15 February The sixth closed MAC meeting was held at Panmunjom  
 
  President Johnson was briefed by Cyrus Vance on his recent trip to Seoul 
   

Joint communiqué between Vance and Choi pledging immediate countermeasures 
against guerilla infiltration, annual defense ministerial talks, and the 
modernization of South Korean armies was released 

 
16 February The seventh closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom  
 

Minister of National Defense of North Korea Kim Chang Bong arrived in 
Moscow for celebrations of the 50th Anniversary of the Red Army and was 
received by the General Secretary of the CPSU CC   
 

19 February The 263rd open MAC meeting was held at Panmunjom during which General  
  Park accused the United States of violating the Armistice Agreement. Admiral  
  Smith  accused North Korea of violating the Armistice Agreement, citing the 
Blue   House Raid. Park disagreed and said that the event was the work of indigenous  
  South Koreans 
   
20 February The eighth closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom during which General  
  Pak demanded that the United States issue an apology based on the confessions of 
   the crew members of the U.S.S. Pueblo. Pak insisted that the U.S. issue an 
apology   prior to their release 
 



President Park sent a personal letter to the 16 countries that were involved in the 
Korean War, requesting that if South Korea was attacked, that they would 
retaliate and come together to its aid under the Joint Communiqué  

 
21 February During a meeting between Ambassador Porter, General Bonesteel, the South 

Korean Prime Minister, Defense Minister, and Foreign Minister, South Korean 
representatives requested that South Korea be granted full participation in 
determining the use of the $100 million to be given to the South Korea’s military. 
General Bonesteel agreed. 

 
23 February South Korean Ambassador to the US called on Assistant Secretary Sisco to assist 

in obtaining affirmations of the 1953 Declaration by sixteen countries who 
contributed troops in the Korean War 

 
25 February The ninth closed MAC meeting took place at Panmunjom 
 
26 February Leonid Brezhnev urged Kim Chang Bong to release the crew of the U.S.S. Pueblo 
  in order to prevent the situation from escalating. Brezhnev also complained that  
  the U.S.S.R was not receiving adequate information about the MAC meetings  
  from the North Koreans 
 
1 March The US Embassy in Seoul recommended that contact through the Neutral Nations 
  Supervisory Commission be terminated given the lack of positive results 
 
  Secretary of Defense Robert McNamara was replaced by Clark Clifford. 
 
  Kim Il Sung reported to the Soviet Ambassador that he would visit Moscow soon 
 

The North Korean Foreign Ministry began to inform the U.S.S.R about the closed 
MAC meetings in detail 

 
4 March During the tenth closed MAC meeting, General Pak informed Admiral Smith that 
  the affair laid within North Korea’s own jurisdiction and rejected the proposal for 
   an intermediary to conduct an investigation. Pak handed Smith a letter 
addressed    to President Johnson written by the crew members, admitting to 
espionage and    intruding into North Korean territorial waters 
 
7 March The 264th open MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom 
 
9 March The eleventh closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom 
 
21 March The twelfth closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom 
 
28 March The thirteenth closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom 
 
31 March   President Johnson announced that he would not seek re-election 
 
April The South Korean government privately formed special “Unit 684” to assassinate 

Kim Il-Sung and to destroy his presidential palace 



 
1 April The South Korean Homeland Reserve Force was activated 
 
5 April The South Korean Defense Ministry ordered military drills for all high school and 

college students 
 
9 April Leonid Brezhnev’s delivered a speech at the April 1968 CC CPSU Plenum 

regarding the Pueblo crisis 
 
11 April The fourteenth closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom 
 
17 April The first conference between President Johnson and President Park was held  
  1010-1230 hours at the Library of the Kaiser Estate, Koko Head, Honolulu 
 
  The second conference between President Johnson and President Park held 1700- 
  1830 hours 
 
  A Joint Communiqué was issued 
 
22 April The fifteenth closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom 
 
8 May  The sixteenth closed MAC meeting was held at Panmunjom at which Brigadier  
  General Gilbert H. Woodward replaced Admiral Smith as U.S. Senior Member 
 
26-29 May The first U.S. - South Korea defense ministerial summit was held in Washington,  
  D.C. 
 
28 May  The seventeenth closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom 
 
19 June The South Korean Police Department ordered military drills for all high and 

middle school students and women 
 
25 June North Korea announced the commencement of a “Month of Joint Actions for the 

Expulsion of the American Occupants from South Korea” 
 
27 June The eighteenth closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom 
 
5 July The South Korean administration established a three-year plan for the battle 

against North Korean attacks and for defense industries.  
 
6 July The South Korean government released its 1969 budget plan with an emphasis on 

strengthening defense 
 
10 July The nineteenth closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom 
 
14 August South Korea reinforced its coastal police guard 
 
29 August The twentieth closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom 
 
9 September Twentieth Anniversary of the founding of the DPRK 



 
12 September The crew of the U.S.S. Pueblo gave a press conference in North Korea with  
  foreign journalists present 
 
16 September The twenty-first closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom 
 
30 September The twenty-second closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom 
 
10 October The twenty-third closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom 
 
23 October The twenty-fourth closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom 
 
31 October The twenty-fifth closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom 
 
November President Johnson approved the “Leonard Proposal” advanced by James Leonard, 

according to which General Woodward would apologize to the North Koreans 
under the condition that he could publicly repudiate the apology 

 
4 November About 100 North Korean commandos infiltrated into South Korean territory 

(Samchek and Uljin) resulting in casualties of local civilians 
 
5 November Richard M. Nixon was elected the 37th U.S. President with Spiro Agnew as Vice-

President.  
 
2 December President Elect Nixon named Henry Kissinger as his National Security Advisor 
 
17 December  The twenty-sixth closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom where General 

Woodward agreed to sign a North Korean document although he would make a 
formal statement indicating: 

 (1) U.S. government did not consider the Pueblo’s activities illegal 
 (2) U.S. government did not see evidence indicating that the Pueblo intruded into 

North Korean territorial waters 
 (3) U.S. government would not apologize unless they believed the intrusion to 

have actually taken place 
 
19 December  The twenty-seventh closed MAC meeting was held in Panmunjom 
 
23 December  The 82 surviving crew members of the U.S.S. Pueblo and the body of the  
  deceased were released 
 
  Under Secretary of State Nicholas Katzenbach delivered a “Review of United  
  States Policy Toward Korea” to President Johnson 

   
1969 

 
 
January  Kim Chang-bong, Ho Pong-hak, and Choi Kwang were purged from   
  the Korean Worker’s Party 



 
18 January The South Korean East Coast Security Guard was established 
 
28 February The South Korean government announced a southward readjustment of   
  the fishery demarcation line on the Yellow Sea to protect fishing vessels   
  from North Korean abduction 
 
1 March The South Korean National Unification Board was established 
 
15 March South Korean Prime Minister Chong Il Kwon offered the Republic of Korea as a 

base for the Far East in case the US had to remove its bases in Okinawa  
 
16 March Operation Focus Retina, an airborne assault exercise designed to test the US 

capability to deploy troops to any trouble spot in the world in support of its allies 
got underway in Yoju, Kyonggi Province in South Korea.  

  The exercise was held to discourage further infiltrations by North Korea   
  and to reassure South Koreans of its treaty commitments  
 
21 March President Nixon requested a contingency study for South Korea to further 

examine possible military responses from the North 
 
15 April North Korean MIG fighters shot down a US Navy EC-121 reconnaissance  
  plane over the East Sea south of Chongjin, North Korea. All 31    
  crewmembers were killed 
 
  Kim Il Sung’s birthday 
 
16 April A National Security Council meeting was held on the EC-121 incident. 

Retaliatory measures considered were: (1) air strikes against North Korean air 
defenses, (2) a blockade of North Korean ports, (3) the destruction of a North 
Korean aircraft, (4) a sea to shore bombardment, (5) an attack on targets adjacent 
to the DMZ, (6) a raid on grounds across the DMZ 

 
18 April President Nixon held a press conference and discussed the EC-121 incident. He 

announced that reconnaissance flights would continue over South Korea and 
admitted that the Soviet Union was unaware of the recent shooting incident 

 
President Park warned the U.S. that if retaliatory measures would not be taken 
towards North Korea, then provocations against both nations would continue 

 
19 April President Nixon stated that a retaliatory attack on North Korea was inappropriate  
 
29 April The Pentagon announced that three squadrons of F-4C Phantom fighter-bombers 

would be sent to beef up US airpower in Korea 
 
30 April President Park wrote a letter to President Nixon regarding the EC-121 incident 
 



May  The U.S. Department of Defense suggested a Korean military program   
  supplement of $108 million (75% increase) 
 
6 May  Soviet Premier Kosygin visited North Korea 
 
13 May U.S. Senator Stephen Young suggested that United States Forces in Korea 

(USFK) withdraw its troops once South Korean soldiers in Vietnam were returned  
 
June In a meeting with the House Appropriation Committee, U.S. Defense Minister 

Melvin R. Laird revealed a plan for the withdrawal and reduction of US troops 
from South Korea 

 
11 June A North Korean military delegation visited the Soviet Union to request additional 

military assistance 
 
25 July In a press conference in Guam, President Nixon elaborated on his Nixon Doctrine 

by stating that the U.S.’s expectation of its Asian allies was to attend to their own 
military defense   

 
31 July U.S. Secretary of State Rogers began his visit to Korea. The goal was to secure an 

assurance from the South Korean government that it would begin to assume a 
greater responsibility for its own defense 

 
17 August A U.S. helicopter OH-23 with three members of the 59th Aviation Co. aboard was 

shot down over North Korean territory. All crewmembers were wounded in action 
 
18 August President Park said in an interview with US News and World Report that South 

Korea was willing to offer Cheju Island as a substitute for Okinawa as a US 
military base in the Far East 

 
20 August The North Korean daily Rodong Sinmun criticized President Park’s visit to the 

United States, claiming that South Korea was participating in US efforts to initiate 
an aggressive war policy 

 
21 August President Park arrived in San Francisco for meetings with President Nixon 
 Talks between President Park and President Nixon took place at 1615-1815 hours. 

Discussions about Nixon Doctrine, Vietnam, the Sino-Soviet split, Japanese-
Korean relations, and restrictive U.S. trade policies were on the agenda. A joint 
communiqué between the two countries was issued 

 
22 August  President Park departed for South Korea 
 
24 September President Park gave speech stating that the USFK will not be stationed in South 

Korea permanently  
 
October North Korea resumed the exchange of delegations with the People’s Republic of 

China. Choe Yong-gŏn visited the PRC for the twentieth anniversary of the PRC. 
 



10 October In a phone conversation between South Korean Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
official Yoon and U.S. Embassy Advisor Judd, Yoon expressed his skepticism in 
regard to Laird’s speech from June. He stated that it was not the intention of the 
U.S. government and requested a formal denial from the U.S. 

 
23 October Foreign Minister Choi expressed concerns over issues raised by the U.S. media 

regarding the withdrawal of US Forces from Korea and emphasized the current 
necessity of the troops in order to defend and protect the South 

 
24 November President Nixon sent a letter to National Security Advisor Kissinger suggesting 

the reduction of U.S. troop levels in South Korea. Nixon wanted to cut troop 
levels to half in Korea and have South Korea take up more responsibility for its 
own defense 

 
3 December The three crewmembers of the US Army helicopter, which was brought down 

over North Korean territory on 17 August, were returned after 108 days of 
captivity 

 
11 December A Korean Airlines AYS 11-125 with 51 passengers departing from Kangnung to 

Seoul was hijacked to North Korea. No passengers were wounded.  
 
30 December  The Nixon Administration suggested that South Korea receive $128.2 million in 

aid  
 

1970 
 

20 February The results of a South Korean public opinion poll by the Ministry of National 
Unification was released. 90.6% of the population surveyed responded that 
national unification was a task of supreme national importance 

 
17 February Chairman of the US Joint Chief of Staff said the withdrawal of USFK from South 

Korea would be “untimely” 
 
25 February National Security Council determined 20,000 USFK troops be    
  withdrawn from South Korea 
 
20 March President Nixon ordered one of the two divisions of USFK to be withdrawn from 

South Korea 
 
3 August In a conversation with Ambassador Porter, President Park strongly expressed his 

disapproval regarding the plan to withdraw US forces from South Korea  
  
15 August The Peaceful Reunification Initiative was announced by President Park 
 
24 August U.S. Vice President Spiro Agnew visited South Korea and spoke with government 

officials explaining the inevitable reduction of US forces 
 
12 September The Red Youth bodyguard was launched by the KWP CC 



 
2 November  The fifth KWP Congress installed Kim Il Sung as the General Secretary  
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